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          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good

          3  afternoon. I'm Council Member Provenzano, the Chair

          4  of the Committee on Housing and Buildings.

          5                 I'd like to thank those of you that

          6  are here, although you're few.

          7                 We have two items on the agenda

          8  today. The first is Intro. No. 42. It's a local law

          9  to amend the Administrative Code of the City of New

         10  York, in relation to equal access to bathroom

         11  facilities, also known as the restroom equity bill

         12  of New York.

         13                 The second item is Intro. No. 318, a

         14  local law to amend the Administrative Code of the

         15  City of New York, in relation to exemption from

         16  taxation for alterations and improvements to

         17  multiple dwellings.

         18                 Number 42, Intro. No. 42-A, which

         19  we'll hear first, was drafted to provide for an

         20  increase in the availability of bathrooms for women

         21  by altering the number of water closets that must be

         22  provided at certain places of assembly.

         23                 The bill would apply to new

         24  construction, to alterations and to conversions.

         25  Conversions being alterations that involve a change
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          2  in the occupancy group of a building or space.

          3                 Although the present Building Code

          4  requires that there be an equal number of men's and

          5  women's water closets, the sponsors of this

          6  legislation believe that this current requirement

          7  ignores reality, as it often takes women a longer

          8  period of time to use the bathroom than men.

          9                 Thus, this bill would require that

         10  there be twice as many water closets for women as

         11  there are for men at certain places of assembly

         12  contained in the bill.

         13                 Specifically arenas, auditoriums,

         14  drinking places, meeting halls, motion picture

         15  theatres, public dance halls, stadiums and

         16  performing arts theaters.

         17                 The bill attempt to provide equity

         18  and fairness to what is deemed by many to be

         19  presently an unequal situation.

         20                 Intro. No. 42 was drafted in part

         21  with the 2003 international Building Code as a

         22  guide.

         23                 The sponsors of this legislation

         24  contend that the absence of a sufficient number of

         25  women's bathrooms in many places of public assembly,
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          2  and the waiting lines at women's bathrooms could be

          3  in part attributed to this insufficient number of

          4  bathroom facilities, and the waiting lines can be

          5  attributed.

          6                 This is one of the more blatant and

          7  visible forms of gender discrimination in our

          8  society.

          9                 And I think this has also been

         10  displayed by some of the press who have been getting

         11  on it, potty parity, bla bla bla bla.

         12                 This was something that, and I have

         13  to say this, I have walked into a men's facility

         14  many, many times when I'm standing on a long, long

         15  line of women. And if I think that this was an issue

         16  that centered around a male concern, we would not be

         17  getting the cute little, funny little remarks, which

         18  we don't think are so cute and funny. So, you know,

         19  there's a little bit of sexism in that.

         20                 The legislation also provides that by

         21  January 1st, 2005, any arena, auditorium, drinking

         22  place, what's a drinking place, a bar?

         23                 MS. NASSER: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. Meeting

         25  hall, motion picture theater, public dance hall,
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          2  stadium or theater, that was not required to conform

          3  to the new minimum requirements for water closets

          4  contained in this legislation, shall redesignate

          5  existing bathrooms, if this will produce a ratio of

          6  water closets that more closely approximates the

          7  ratio of women's to men's water closets.

          8                 You could see it's obvious I don't

          9  like the term water closets, but... that would

         10  otherwise be required if the structure were

         11  constructed anew.

         12                 The bill provides that for occupancy

         13  by one to 150 persons, the minimum number of water

         14  closets for men would be one, and for women would be

         15  two.

         16                 For occupancy by 150 to 300, the

         17  minimum for men would be two and for women would be

         18  four.

         19                 Occupancy 301 to 450, for men would

         20  be three, women six.

         21                 I think we get it. Please see the

         22  bill and accompanying report for any additional

         23  details.

         24                 Before we get started, I would like

         25  to acknowledge some of my Committee members that are
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          2  here. To my left, Council Member Tony Avella,

          3  Councilwoman Gale Brewer, and we have Council Member

          4  Yvette Clarke, who is the prime sponsor of this

          5  piece of legislation. And we'd like to thank her for

          6  introducing it.

          7                 Council Member Clarke, you're on.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you so

          9  much, Madam Chair.

         10                 This is truly ground-breaking

         11  legislation. You know, I've been somewhat taken by

         12  surprise by the type of, I guess publicity, that

         13  this legislation has generated, and to me it's such

         14  a no-brainer. Here we are in the 21st century, where

         15  little girls have been conditioned from a very early

         16  age to stand in line to use restroom facilities,

         17  when it's really needless.

         18                 All we need to do is adjustments to

         19  the way that we construct new buildings, or newly

         20  renovated buildings, and make some minor adjustments

         21  for existing facilities, to simply create parity,

         22  and that's all we're asking for.

         23                 When you look at women standing in

         24  line, let's use a theater venue, for example. Often

         25  times we see grandmothers in line, we see pregnant
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          2  women in line, we see pregnant women in line, we see

          3  women who were custodians of children standing in

          4  line, and at the same time the curtain is rising,

          5  they're missing the second act. Now, do you call

          6  that fair? I certainly do not.

          7                 And I think that this legislation

          8  goes a mighty long way in creating an environment

          9  and an atmosphere where we deal with the facts of

         10  life in a very equitable way, and one of the facts

         11  of life is that it takes longer for women to

         12  biologically use the water closet.

         13                 Having said that, I have heard some

         14  split reactions to this, and I did want to address a

         15  little bit of the criticism that I've heard, and

         16  that has been that a lack -- aren't there more

         17  serious problems for women?

         18                 I think everyone can agree that when

         19  nature calls anyone, there's nothing more serious at

         20  that moment than answering that call.

         21                 Having said that, I think that indeed

         22  we have an opportunity to move New York City into

         23  the 21st century. There are numerous jurisdictions

         24  across this nation that have already passed similar

         25  legislation, California, Minnesota, Pennsylvania,
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          2  Tennessee, even Texas and Washington.

          3                 So, we can take this opportunity to

          4  really move New York City and be true to our

          5  standing as a world class City by really moving this

          6  legislation forward.

          7                 To the criticism, I would say that we

          8  are addressing restroom equity, not to the exclusion

          9  of the issues, but in addition to those other

         10  issues.

         11                 And I challenge anyone to identify a

         12  social issue that this Council is not already

         13  aggressively tackling.

         14                 I know that many women's rights

         15  groups support this bill and had hoped to be here

         16  today.

         17                 We will be hearing from NOW and

         18  several other organizations that were unable to

         19  attend, due to prescheduled conferences.

         20                 I would also like to note that the

         21  Women's City Club, which is not here today, has

         22  endorsed this legislation.

         23                 And I'd like to just say that this is

         24  also an issue of equal rights, and I think that

         25  equal in this case need parity.
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          2                 Because there's no way when we deal

          3  with the issue of restroom equity that we don't take

          4  into account the biological and physiological

          5  differences between the sexes.

          6                 Having said that Madam Chair, I want

          7  to thank you so much for bringing this piece of

          8  legislation through, and it's my hope that there

          9  will be wisdom amongst my colleagues, particularly

         10  the men who have had to suffer along with their

         11  loved ones, holding packages, watching the kids, as

         12  their loved ones stood in line to use the restroom.

         13                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Or standing

         15  outside the men's room to make sure no one comes in

         16  while their wife is in the men's room.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Exactly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: That's a job

         19  my husband has had a few times.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Exactly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We have also

         22  been joined by Council Member Comrie and Council

         23  Member James Oddo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Sorry I was

         25  late, I was in the men's room.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I think you

          3  should move at least within spitting range of me.

          4                 To start giving us some testimony, we

          5  have Steve Kramer, Chief of Staff for Patricia

          6  Lancaster, Commissioner of Department of Buildings.

          7                 Welcome, Steve.

          8                 MR. KRAMER: Good afternoon.

          9                 In particular, good afternoon,

         10  Chairperson Provenzano, and members of the Committee

         11  on Housing and Buildings.

         12                 My name is Stephen Kramer, and I am

         13  the Chief of Staff for the City's Department of

         14  Buildings.

         15                 I'm appearing on behalf of the

         16  Department's Commissioner, Patricia J. Lancaster,

         17  who is unavailable for testimony this afternoon.

         18                 On her behalf, I want to thank you

         19  for this opportunity to testify concerning Intro. 42

         20  of 2004, regarding equal access to bathroom

         21  facilities.

         22                 Let me start off by saying that the

         23  Department supports all efforts to improve the

         24  Building Code, so as to make New York City a safer

         25  and more comfortable place for all of its citizens
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          2  and visitors.

          3                 Intro. 42 reflects one of the many

          4  issues that's now being considered and raised by the

          5  various stakeholders in the City's Building Code

          6  over the past few years that has moved the

          7  Administration toward consideration of adoption of a

          8  model code.

          9                 In order to adequately address the

         10  many outstanding issues concerning the current

         11  Building Code, the Department has embarked on an

         12  exhaustive review of the International Building

         13  Code, the IBC, in anticipation of a comprehensive

         14  legislative package to be brought before the Council

         15  later this year.

         16                 Consistent with this Administration's

         17  philosophy, that the legislative process should be

         18  as open, inclusive and transparent as possible, as

         19  it recently was successfully concluded with the

         20  World Trade Center resolution.

         21                 The IBC review process consists of a

         22  multitude of committees, involving a host of

         23  stakeholders in the Building Code and amendments to

         24  the Building Code.

         25                 As indicated in Intro 42's

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  declaration of legislative findings and intent, the

          3  IBC itself in its current form addresses the number

          4  of water closets allocated to women and men in

          5  public spaces.

          6                 Indeed the IBC review process is an

          7  ideal forum for all affected parties to review and

          8  discuss the requirements in-depth, and develop a

          9  proposal that is satisfactory for everyone.

         10                 And in fact, the IBC Plumbing

         11  Committee, is currently in the process of reviewing

         12  this very issue. However, as this review is ongoing,

         13  commenting on the technical specifics of this bill,

         14  or the Plumbing Committee's proposal, would be a bit

         15  premature.

         16                 Nevertheless, the Department is more

         17  than happy to work with the sponsors of this bill

         18  and of course all of the other members on the

         19  Committee on this issue as the IBC moves forward

         20  toward a concrete legislative proposal.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         23  And I hope that while the Committee is considering

         24  these kinds of things, they'll also come up with one

         25  term. It's my understanding now that the Code
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          2  includes water closets, bathrooms, toilets, we can't

          3  seem to find one comfortable term.

          4                 MR. KRAMER: That sounds like a good

          5  idea.

          6                 The IBC on the whole is a lot more

          7  readable than the City's Building Code and perhaps

          8  we can improve it even further.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We've also

         10  been joined by Councilwoman Melinda Katz, and

         11  Councilman Robert Jackson.

         12                 Do we have any questions?

         13                 Councilwoman Brewer.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I was just

         15  noting, and maybe it's just my ignorance, but I

         16  think that according to our material, the

         17  International Building Code, when it is finalized

         18  will require sufficient women's bathroom facilities,

         19  and I didn't know if that has any definition.

         20                 MR. KRAMER: The City has the ability

         21  through the IBC process to amend terms like that,

         22  general terms, that reflect the specifics of the

         23  situation here in New York City.

         24                 So, that's really the key to the

         25  process, we're not adopting the IBC's language in
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          2  total, but there will be amendments which will be

          3  clearly delineated to make it user-friendly for

          4  let's say architects, engineers, who are based

          5  outside the City, they can take the IBC that they're

          6  familiar with, let's say in California or Chicago or

          7  New Jersey or whatever other state they work in, and

          8  immediately see what the difference is in the New

          9  York City version, because New York's will be

         10  essentially underlined and annotated to reflect the

         11  difference. So, the word sufficient is not one that

         12  I would anticipate coming out of our process. It

         13  could, but there's no reason to, and in light of the

         14  fact that the Committee, the Plumbing Committee is

         15  considering concrete proposals far more specific

         16  than sufficient, I would be surprised if that were

         17  the proposal that comes before you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         21  Member Clarke.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

         23  Madam Chair.

         24                 In the deliberations of the Plumbing

         25  Committee and the process that the City is
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          2  undergoing right now, in terms of revising and

          3  adopting a model code for buildings, have you come

          4  across any City with similar dynamics to New York

          5  City in that we're a major tourist destination, and

          6  we're very heavily populated and densely

          7  concentrated type of City, and in that comparison

          8  have they seen a dynamic where restroom equity has

          9  been achieved and has been implemented, and what

         10  that ratio, you know, the tipping point would be for

         11  that?

         12                 MR. KRAMER: I'm actually not a

         13  member. There are some 40 subcommittees, and I

         14  personally have not attended any of the Plumbing

         15  Subcommittee meetings.

         16                 There are, as I'm sure you know, a

         17  number of cities which have adopted various pieces

         18  of legislation on this. We did a search through the

         19  Internet just using the words bathroom parity and

         20  there were several different articles, which really

         21  spell it out in a great deal of detail, but I'm not

         22  familiar with the specific proposals.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KRAMER: And is there

         24  anything that you can think of that would preclude

         25  us even in the midst of the current process for
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          2  redoing the model code, with passing this piece of

          3  legislation, would that preempt or restrict the

          4  ability of the Committee to I guess absorb this as

          5  part of the process?

          6                 MR. KRAMER: Actually, I don't think

          7  so at all. I think it would be very useful if the

          8  Committee were concluded it's initial phase of this,

          9  and of course it will have the input of this bill

         10  and the other information which you would like to

         11  provide. But just as we have an existing Building

         12  Code that has many New York City specific provisions

         13  which differs from the IBC, which we anticipate will

         14  be included in the IBC that's ultimately adopted

         15  here, there's no reason that I can think of that

         16  basically almost integrate the processes to have the

         17  Committee get the benefit of the Committee and its

         18  learning from other jurisdictions, and if you again

         19  feel that that process let's say will take too long

         20  and you want action earlier than that, I don't see

         21  any technical reason that would preclude, or should

         22  preclude the Council from acting before the IBC

         23  actually goes into effect in New York.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Wonderful,

         25  because I think we may need to be able to give the
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          2  people of the City of New York an opportunity to

          3  exercise some behavioral modification, because we've

          4  all been so conditioned to such an antiquated way of

          5  using restroom facilities that this will enable us

          6  to do that.

          7                 So, thank you so much, sir. Thank

          8  you.

          9                 MR. KRAMER: You're welcome.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We're also

         11  being joined by Councilwoman Reyna.

         12                 Council Member Brewer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I just want to

         14  say in the balcony we have PS Jackson, and PS Simcha

         15  Felder. Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Do we have

         17  any other questions?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I have a

         19  question for Simcha.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No, he's got

         21  to come down here. Come on. No, not that way.

         22                 Anyone else? Okay, thank you very

         23  much, Steve.

         24                 We have Bob Bookman. Are you

         25  somewhere? Thank you. Welcome.
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          2                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you, Madam Chair,

          3  members of the Council. My name is Robert Bookman.

          4  I'm Counsel to the New York Nightlife Association,

          5  which is the capacity in which I appear before you

          6  here today.

          7                 I have some more questions really

          8  than an overall position on the proposal. Obviously,

          9  the thousand or more nightlife establishments that

         10  are currently existing in the City of New York are

         11  concerned about any proposal which would require

         12  major changes in construction.

         13                 So, let me just quickly for your

         14  consideration raise issues that I see in the

         15  legislation for your consideration, as you move

         16  ahead, whether it be through this Administration

         17  Building Department code revision or not.

         18                 First, I don't know what the

         19  definition of "drinking place" is. It's not used

         20  anywhere else, particularly defined anywhere else,

         21  zoning resolution, Building Code does not. The

         22  zoning resolution has "eating or drinking

         23  establishments," and they're always together. And

         24  therefore, I assuming that somebody was trying to

         25  say a drinking place is a bar or a nightclub, but if
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          2  the intent of this legislation is to include bars

          3  and clubs as they would be defined I guess in the

          4  Health Code which is less than 40 percent gross

          5  annual sales food, so there is something of a

          6  working definition of what's a bar, versus what's a

          7  restaurant.

          8                 Nevertheless, if that's your intent

          9  to exclude restaurants, we object.

         10                 I find, I can give you examples of

         11  dozens of dozens of prominent restaurants in the

         12  City of New York that serve a whole lot more alcohol

         13  than the neighborhood pub, so I don't see the

         14  distinction. If the issue is equity for people going

         15  to the bathroom, then the issue is equity for going

         16  to the bathroom.

         17                 So, that's a concern that we have

         18  about, I don't want to use the word discriminating

         19  but treating bars and taverns, whether they be

         20  neighborhood places or large clubs differently than

         21  the restaurant that might be right next door to

         22  them.

         23                 Secondly, it is a new growing trend

         24  in the club scene in New York, I am told,

         25  representing them but not being awake that late any
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          2  longer -- this representation came at the wrong time

          3  in my life -- of unisex bathrooms. It's a new common

          4  thing to have large unisex bathrooms. Obviously

          5  there are no urinals in these unisex bathrooms, but

          6  there are walls of stalls. How will that be treated

          7  in this legislation? If you only have unisex

          8  bathrooms, are you automatically in compliance? I

          9  would think so, but it needs to be addressed.

         10                 Third is the issue of grandparenting.

         11  You notice I didn't say that bad word. Councilwoman

         12  Quinn warned me once and I'm a quick learner.

         13                 We are very concerned about your

         14  section 3B here, which seems to not grandparent

         15  existing establishments.

         16                 The earlier part of the proposal

         17  clearly says that it applies to new construction and

         18  major renovations. That I understand, and it defines

         19  what a major renovation is.

         20                 But then this next section seems to

         21  contradict that, saying by this January 1st, 2005

         22  the existing establishment has to redesignate

         23  existing bathrooms. That's completely impossible and

         24  untenable.

         25                 Think of, well, let's start with this
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          2  room over here, Councilwoman. You have a

          3  100-year-old men's bathroom, and 100-year-old

          4  women's bathroom around the corner, how are you

          5  going to redesignate other than by literally

          6  destroying this bathroom, completely rebuilding it,

          7  putting a second door in there, so that half of this

          8  men's bathroom become a women's bathroom.

          9                 The expense needs to be looked at for

         10  the entire City of New York. You're probably talking

         11  about tens of millions and millions of dollars for

         12  every Broadway theater, for every restaurant, for

         13  every bar, for every nightclub to start tearing up

         14  approved plans and creating in effect three

         15  bathrooms, a men's room, a woman's room an a second

         16  woman's room by shortening a piece of the male

         17  bathroom. Because I can assure you, nobody is going

         18  to spend any more space on increasing the amount of

         19  space devoted to bathrooms, because you don't

         20  produce income from bathrooms. So, they'll have to

         21  take away existing space from men's bathrooms to

         22  accommodate this ratio, and it's just not feasible

         23  not to have a grandparenting provision here, and I

         24  think the industry in general would be much more

         25  supportive of going forward with this if there is a
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          2  complete grandparenting.

          3                 Steve Salvison, who is a consultant

          4  with a company called RIP, who I hoped would be here

          5  today, who has been responsible for the construction

          6  and renovation of probably over 100 places like this

          7  throughout the City, or hundreds, when the time was

          8  changed from the morning to the afternoon it was a

          9  conflict but he wanted me to raise one point and I

         10  think the Committee should speak with him, because

         11  he is much more technically proficient in the

         12  current Building Code and the interplay here. But he

         13  suggested that if you go forward with this, at the

         14  percentage of men's urinals be increased from 50

         15  percent to 75 percent, that frees up, a urinal frees

         16  up square footage as opposed to a stall, and if

         17  we're going to be reducing effectively the space

         18  that we devote to men's bathrooms, which is what

         19  this legislation will do by increasing the space for

         20  female, we need to get the men in and out quickly as

         21  well, and don't artificially limit the amount of

         22  toilet space that counts in the men's bathrooms to

         23  50 percent urinals. Otherwise, you're simply going

         24  to be exchanging one line for another line, and I

         25  don't think that's what you're looking for.
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          2                 My only other concern -- oh, there's

          3  one other point he wants me to raise, and that is,

          4  because the IBC has been mentioned, in Europe many

          5  of the female water closets are effectively what we

          6  would call, you know, a fancy hole in the ground,

          7  with, you know, with flushing, obviously, it's not a

          8  real hole, it's connected to plumbing, but that

          9  seems to move the lines along much faster there,

         10  because I'm not quite sure --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: You're not

         12  going from Europe to Asia, where they really have

         13  holes in the ground.

         14                 MR. BOOKMAN: No, I'm not.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Don't go

         16  there.

         17                 MR. BOOKMAN: I'm not sure if what

         18  we're talking about really is -- and I'm treading on

         19  thin ice here, is a biological inequality, or the

         20  fact that a toilet requires women to take more --

         21  clearly more time, given our current toilet

         22  facilities, due to clothing requirements.

         23                 The European system moves along much

         24  more quickly and they've got the same biological

         25  configuration as we do.
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          2                 Last but not least, I see the same

          3  lines. I have a daughter and two sons and I have a

          4  wife, the second time, so I've experienced all the

          5  stories that you have raised. The lines, however,

          6  that I see are much more than two to one, frankly.

          7  So, what happens when we go through all of this and

          8  we require all this construction and all this

          9  change, and you don't solve the problem?

         10                 I'm not convinced. I think you need

         11  to do a study about the average time, and the

         12  problem generally is more, frankly, in a theater, or

         13  a place or in stadiums where there is a large number

         14  of people going to the bathroom at the same time,

         15  where there is a break in the action, an

         16  intermission.

         17                 I don't think it's a problem, in the

         18  overall majority of my clients' establishment, quite

         19  frankly. There's a constant flow, no pun intended,

         20  of people going in and out of each room, whether

         21  it's unisex or not, and in the average bar or

         22  restaurant, it's just not a big problem.

         23                 But I think the timing is much more

         24  than two to one, it's probably three to one or four

         25  to one longer. So, if you're not solving the
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          2  problem, then what are we doing. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          4  Bob.

          5                 Actually, talking about the

          6  100-year-old bathrooms in City Hall, we are way

          7  ahead of our times. We have a 100-year-old bathroom

          8  down stairs, it is unisex. You lift the little thing

          9  on the door.

         10                 Do we have any questions? I'm sure we

         11  do. Okay, who wants to be first here?

         12                 Council Member Clarke.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Wow. That was

         14  interesting.

         15                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And you raised

         17  some legitimate concerns, and I think we can

         18  certainly address them.

         19                 Let me start with the European model.

         20  I think it's important that before we bring models

         21  or even raise the specter of it, maybe you might

         22  want to have a conversation with an American woman,

         23  and so that she can explain to you some of the

         24  differences in culture and other things. I don't

         25  want to get into details about it, but I don't think
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          2  it's applicable.

          3                 Let me say to you that, for old

          4  facilities, with the intent of this legislation it

          5  was never -- it's not an internal process where

          6  you're talking about going into a men's room and now

          7  retrofitting it to accommodate more women, it's

          8  actually based on the room. And where there are

          9  institutions such as this or other facilities in the

         10  City of New York where you have one men's room and

         11  one woman's room, this law does not apply.

         12                 So, you wouldn't have to go into new

         13  construction. We're talking about, for example, in a

         14  place where you have six restrooms, currently three

         15  are men and three are women.

         16                 We're simply saying that you

         17  establish a two to one ratio in that type of

         18  situation, where you would simply be talking about

         19  changing a sign from one men's room to a woman's

         20  room. It does not apply to a situation like this.

         21                 Let me also say that with respect to

         22  your clients in the nightlife, and I'm not as

         23  up-to-date in my nightlife either, since being

         24  elected, but I do recall going to nightclubs and

         25  having to stand on line, and you stand on line
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          2  because in those environments you drink more, and

          3  with that type of, with the consumption of alcohol,

          4  and, you know, maybe we might need to get some

          5  medical folks here, I think it just almost promotes

          6  -- I know when you drink beer.

          7                 MR. BOOKMAN: Certainly beer, I'll

          8  testify to that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Right? It

         10  promotes a constant situation. And so, for, you

         11  know, there is always a line. And all we're talking

         12  about is mitigating those conditions, and I think

         13  that there are not folk with the intellect and

         14  ability to come up with the ratio that will

         15  accommodate that.

         16                 We're not asking for property owners

         17  to go through any extra added expense to implement

         18  this law.

         19                 What we're asking for is restroom

         20  equity. And for newly constructed and newly

         21  renovated environment that that ratio is a part of

         22  that.

         23                 MR. BOOKMAN: I appreciate that. And

         24  I'm very happy to hear that. I would just then

         25  suggest that sub B section be clarified, because
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          2  with all due respect, I don't think it says what you

          3  just said. And even though that would still require

          4  some changes, more than just a sign on the men's

          5  room, since most mens rooms do have urinals, and

          6  stalls, it would still require getting rid of the

          7  urinals, obviously. Certainly would not be as huge

          8  an expense as I feared. So, that would be great. I

          9  mean, that would be helpful, but I think the

         10  language needs to be clarified.

         11                 And the only reason I brought up the

         12  European model was because the legislative

         13  introductory section, the legislative intent, raises

         14  the international building code. So, I wouldn't have

         15  raised it if you hadn't raised it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         17  Member Brewer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know you

         19  mentioned the issue of unisex. Is that something

         20  that is in most of the nightclubs? Are they

         21  predominantly unisex?

         22                 MR. BOOKMAN: Not predominantly, no,

         23  but it is an increasing trend.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, that in a

         25  sense would answer the question and would be a way
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          2  of which the nightclubs could not have any kind of

          3  alteration costs?

          4                 MR. BOOKMAN: That's correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So that would

          6  be something I think to consider.

          7                 MR. BOOKMAN: I agree.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: From your

          9  perspective.

         10                 MR. BOOKMAN: I agree.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 MR. BOOKMAN: I just wanted to make

         14  sure that the statute says that unisex is --

         15  satisfies. Sorry, Councilwoman.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Go ahead.

         17                 MR. BOOKMAN: Yes, I just wanted to

         18  make sure that if you felt that unisex was

         19  satisfactory, that if the entire premises was

         20  unisex, that the statute was clear that that also

         21  satisfies, you know, the law.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I think we

         23  should make it clearer.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: But when
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          2  you're saying unisex in most of these, or the

          3  nightclubs that have them presently, and believe me,

          4  I don't know, aren't they just separate restrooms as

          5  some restaurants have? They'll have two or three

          6  restrooms, and you go in, the door locks, so anybody

          7  --

          8                 MR. BOOKMAN: Sometimes yes; sometimes

          9  no.

         10                 I mean, understand the State Liquor

         11  Authority also has bathroom requirements. You need

         12  to make sure that we're not in -- that this would

         13  not be in violation of that.

         14                 But based on a certain occupancy,

         15  they also require a certain number of facilities.

         16                 Now, they don't get into --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Right.

         18                 MR. BOOKMAN: But every club due to

         19  the SLA has at least two spaces, if you will, that

         20  have bathrooms, but many of them are multi-stalled,

         21  you know, spaces, and they're both unisex. This one

         22  has ten stalls and that has ten stalls, and there's

         23  usually an attendant in the bathroom and they just

         24  guide you to the next available stall.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.
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          2                 Do we have any other questions?

          3                 Okay.

          4                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 Carolyn Arnold from NOW.

          8                 You can begin. Just introduce

          9  yourself, please.

         10                 MS. ARNOLD: My name is Carolyn

         11  Arnold, and I'm testifying on behalf of the New York

         12  City Chapter of the National Organization for Women,

         13  also known as NOW New York City.

         14                 I'd like to thank Councilwoman

         15  Clarke, and Chairwoman Provenzano for holding this

         16  hearing, and as well as Council Members of other

         17  Committees.

         18                 As a non-profit organization working

         19  towards women's economic educational --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Could you

         21  move the mic a little closer, please? Is the light

         22  off?

         23                 MS. ARNOLD: No, it's on. Is that

         24  better?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes, good.
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          2                 MS. ARNOLD: Okay.

          3                 As a non-profit organization working

          4  towards economic educational, political and gender

          5  equity issues, NOW New York City supports equal

          6  access to public bathrooms, or as Intro. No. 42

          7  refers to them as "water closets."

          8                 The New York City Human Rights Law

          9  forbid discrimination on the basis of sex. As Intro.

         10  No. 42 states, public space with insufficient number

         11  of women toilets results in long lines for women's

         12  bathrooms. It is one of the most blatant, demeaning

         13  visible forms of gender discrimination in our

         14  society. And NOW New York City supports the efforts

         15  of this bill in advocating for women's equality.

         16                 Equal rights must include equal

         17  access to services as public restrooms.

         18                 We are all familiar with exceedingly

         19  long lines that women endure while men zip in and

         20  out of the restrooms.

         21                 Women frequently have to wait on long

         22  lines in extreme discomfort for access to public

         23  restrooms.

         24                 And it is expected that additional

         25  bathrooms also address the needs of pregnant women
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          2  who often require urgent and frequent access to

          3  restrooms.

          4                 The restroom equity bill of New York

          5  requires approximately twice as many water closets

          6  for women as for men, and this legislation would be

          7  yet another important step in bringing New York City

          8  into compliance with International Building Code.

          9                 By doing so, women will be provided

         10  with greater access and therefore equal access to

         11  public restrooms.

         12                 NOW New York City supports this

         13  restroom equity bill and looks forward to shorter

         14  lines and equal access to public restroom. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 Do you have any questions for

         19  Carolyn? No.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 E. Charles Hunt.

         22                 Can you tell us what the "E" stands

         23  for?

         24                 MR. HUNT: No.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. Then

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  maybe we won't let you testify.

          3                 MR. HUNT: It's Eugene. I go by Chuck,

          4  however.

          5                 My name is Chuck Hunt, and I'm the

          6  Executive Vice President of the Greater New York

          7  City Chapters of the New York State Restaurant

          8  Association.

          9                 The New York State Restaurant

         10  Association is a not-for-profit trade association

         11  representing approximately 2,500 restaurants here in

         12  New York City and about 7,000 restaurants in New

         13  York State.

         14                 There are 23,000 food service

         15  operations in the City of New York within the five

         16  boroughs.

         17                 I, too, like my colleague, Mr.

         18  Bookman, came here more to seek information than to

         19  offer it. Specifically restaurants are not mentioned

         20  in this proposed legislation, and I thank you for

         21  that. However, the definition of a drinking place

         22  may indeed draw some in, because I called the

         23  Counsel to the Committee and asked what a drinking

         24  place was and whether a liquor license was

         25  considered a drinking place, or whether it was
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          2  considered a restaurant.

          3                 Mr. Bookman mentioned there is an

          4  informal, or in some cases a formal way in which

          5  restaurants are designated, and that has to do with

          6  the amount of food they serve.

          7                 Basically one of the points that I

          8  would like to stress is, and Mr. Bookman did mention

          9  it, but I would like to just amplify it a little bit

         10  more is that I think my experience, in terms of

         11  going out with my wife and my family, that usually

         12  the places that are most, where it's most evident

         13  that this sort of situation exists, happen to be

         14  places that are sites for events, sporting events,

         15  entertainment events, theaters, opera houses,

         16  convention halls, where everybody goes at the same

         17  time.

         18                 In 90 percent of the restaurants in

         19  this City, I think you will not find a line at the

         20  ladies' restroom. And, so, I would respectfully ask

         21  that you take that into consideration when you go

         22  further with this legislation.

         23                 I also just wonder what, when you get

         24  into the Building Code and revisions, as Mr. Bookman

         25  mentioned as well, the State Liquor Authority has
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          2  requirements, they're also some pretty strict

          3  requirements from the Americans With Disabilities

          4  Act, in terms of how restrooms are configured, and

          5  indeed in new construction I think that these needs

          6  can all be accommodated. I think when you talk about

          7  having to even reassign some of the restrooms, as is

          8  suggested in that section, it's going to create more

          9  problems than perhaps you realize.

         10                 I would respectfully ask that the

         11  grandparenting be considered and fortified in this

         12  legislation.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         14  Chuck.

         15                 I think you raised some good points,

         16  as has Bob, and they'll certainly be considered by

         17  the Committee.

         18                 We've also been joined by

         19  Councilwoman Latitia James.

         20                 Do we have any questions?

         21                 No?

         22                 MR. HUNT: Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 Okay, that concludes our testimony on
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          2  the water closet bill. I want to thank those that

          3  are here for that and those who testified.

          4                 The second item on our agenda is

          5  Intro. No. 318. It's a local law to amend the

          6  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

          7  relation to exemption from taxation for alterations

          8  and improvements to multiple dwellings.

          9                 As the supply of vacant real property

         10  diminishes in New York City, we need creative

         11  methods of real estate development to help address

         12  this City's housing needs.

         13                 This legislation would authorize J-51

         14  tax exemption benefits through alterations,

         15  improvements or conversions, for an expansion --

         16  excuse me. This legislation would authorize J-51 tax

         17  exemption benefits to alterations, improvements or

         18  conversions, an expansion of cubic content to an

         19  existing building or structure.

         20                 This benefit, however, would be

         21  available only if at least 50 percent of the floor

         22  area of the completed building consists of the

         23  original structure.

         24                 In Manhattan, south of 110th Street,

         25  and north of Lower Manhattan, in a newly-created
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          2  exclusion area, no such J-51 tax benefit shall be

          3  conferred for properties that meet this new criteria

          4  for an increase in cubic content, unless such

          5  properties are also aided by a grant, loan or

          6  subsidy for many federal, state or local agency or

          7  instrumentality.

          8                 This legislation describes this new

          9  exclusionary in Manhattan as beginning at the

         10  intersection of the United States Pier Head Line in

         11  the Hudson River and the center line of Chambers

         12  Street extended. Then easterly to the center line of

         13  Chambers Street and continuing along the center line

         14  of Chambers Street to the center line of Chambers --

         15  of Center Street, then southerly along the center

         16  line of Center Street to the center line of the

         17  Brooklyn Bridge, to the intersection of the Brooklyn

         18  Bridge, and the United States Pier Head Line in the

         19  East River. Then northerly along United States Pier

         20  Head Line in the East River, to the intersection of

         21  the United States Pier Head Line in the East River,

         22  and the center line of 110th Street extended. Then

         23  westerly to the center line of 110th Street and

         24  continuing along the center line of 110th Street to

         25  its westerly terminus, then westerly to the
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          2  intersection of the center line of 110th Street

          3  extended and the United States Pier Head Line in the

          4  Hudson River. Then southerly along the United States

          5  Pier Head Line in the Hudson River to the point of

          6  beginning.

          7                 And I know the only one that

          8  understands this is Gale Brewer. Somehow I knew

          9  that, Gale.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And Joe.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And Joe,

         12  absolutely.

         13                 The State Legislature enacted Chapter

         14  450 of the laws of 2003, which amended Section 489

         15  of the real property tax law, to permit this new

         16  type of J-51 tax exemption, for an increase in cubic

         17  content.

         18                 This benefit will encourage owners to

         19  develop additional housing or new housing on their

         20  properties.

         21                 We have been joined by

         22  representatives of the Department of Housing

         23  Preservation and Development who will provide this

         24  Committee with additional details on the purposes

         25  behind this bill, and how it may interact with some
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          2  of their other goals and initiatives.

          3                 We've been joined by Joe Rosenberg.

          4  Welcome, Joe.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Thank

          6  you. Good afternoon, Chairperson Provenzano, Council

          7  Member Gale Brewer, Council Member Tony Avella. My

          8  name is Joseph Rosenberg, I'm the Deputy

          9  Commissioner for Intergovernmental Affairs and

         10  Planning Services at the Department of Housing

         11  Preservation and Development.

         12                 And I'm going to ad-lib here for a

         13  minute. I apologize that the statutory drafters, in

         14  their attempts to define roughly between Chambers

         15  and 110th Street, subjected everyone to such

         16  specific language as "geographic boundaries." If we

         17  have future amendments on this, we will try to make

         18  it a little neater and clarify it.

         19                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         20  testify on behalf of HPD in favor of Intro. No. 318,

         21  which amends Section 11-243 of New York City's

         22  Administrative Code by adding a new subdivision.

         23                 This bill implements Chapter 450 of

         24  Laws 2003, which was passed by the State Legislature

         25  in June 2003 and signed into law by Governor Pataki
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          2  last September.

          3                 In Chapter 450, the State Legislature

          4  amended the real property tax law, Section 489,

          5  which is known as the J-51 program, by authorizing

          6  the local legislative body to provide exemption

          7  benefits, but not abatement benefits for an

          8  expansion of cubic content.

          9                 J-51 exemption benefits would now be

         10  available pursuant to this bill to the expanded

         11  cubic contents, if at least 50 percent of the floor

         12  area of a completed building consists of the

         13  original structure.

         14                 This benefit is only applicable for

         15  additional residential space. It would not include

         16  any increase in assessed valuation of the property,

         17  as a result of the addition of commercial, community

         18  facility or other nonresidential use in the newly

         19  constructed portion of the building. As the supply

         20  of vacant property has dwindled in the City of New

         21  York, and the remaining buildings necessitate more

         22  creative development solutions, housing developments

         23  have combined new construction with conversion or

         24  alteration of an existing building.

         25                 These projects result in one combined
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          2  structure with shared building wide systems. Under

          3  current law, these developments are not eligible to

          4  receive J-51 benefits for this expanded cubic

          5  content. To encourage such development, this bill,

          6  as authorized by Chapter 450, would extend J-51

          7  exemption benefits to cover such expansions, to

          8  ensure that the final building constitutes an

          9  expansion of a pre-existing building, the exemption

         10  benefits could only be granted if at least 50

         11  percent of the floor area of the completed building

         12  consists of the original structure.

         13                 In other words, if you have a

         14  five-story building, and you build up to five

         15  additional floors of housing, you would be eligible

         16  for this benefit.

         17                 That's the standard that we use. The

         18  new construction cannot exceed the cubic content of

         19  the existing original structure.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: But you'd be

         21  eligible for the benefit only on --

         22                 MR. ROSENBERG: Right. You would be

         23  eligible for the J-51 exemption, which is the parcel

         24  -- that is the increased in assessed value

         25  attributable exclusively to the improvement, so it
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          2  would be that new space. You're not eligible for an

          3  abatement, that's very clear in the state law. That

          4  was not what we sought in Albany, purely the

          5  exemption.

          6                 This bill fosters the preservation of

          7  the City's existing streetscape and buildings of

          8  historical interest, in conjunction with creative

          9  design solutions for modernizing building layouts,

         10  amenities and increasing our housing stock.

         11                 Affordable housing projects financed

         12  with government assistance will benefit from this

         13  legislation when they combine the rehabilitation of

         14  existing buildings with new construction on lots to

         15  create additional units.

         16                 Certain economies can be achieved

         17  through shared building systems, such as a heating

         18  system and a common elevator that individual

         19  buildings standing alone might forego.

         20                 A notable example of project that

         21  would benefit from this program is the Bethany Place

         22  Development at Frederick Douglas Boulevard and West

         23  153rd Street in Harlem.

         24                 This project involved the City's

         25  conveyance of three vacant residential buildings to
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          2  a joint venture with Bethany Baptist church.

          3                 The existing buildings will be

          4  renovated and attached to new construction on a

          5  vacant lot. When completed, the five-story building

          6  will have one heating plant, common hallways, a

          7  single entrance to the 28 residential apartments, an

          8  elevator that will service the entire building.

          9                 Ground floor space will be leased to

         10  the Renaissance Health Care Network, a Health and

         11  Hospitals Corporation's affiliate.

         12                 The J-51 tax incentive program has

         13  proven to be one of the most significant factors in

         14  spurring the modernization and rehabilitation of New

         15  York City's housing stock.

         16                 Since 1955, it's initiative has

         17  encouraged owners of multiple dwellings to upgrade

         18  and renovate their building, in exchange for

         19  significant reductions of their annual property tax

         20  bills.

         21                 J-51 performs both the tax abatement

         22  and tax exemption benefit for the rehabilitation

         23  work performed in multiple dwellings.

         24                 Originally conceived of as a way to

         25  encourage property owners to convert cold water
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          2  flats to centrally-heated housing, this program has

          3  evolved to encompass a variety of improvements,

          4  including the installation, a replacement of heating

          5  systems, plumbing, wiring, elevators, windows and a

          6  range of other major capital improvements.

          7                 The program issues 14 or 34-year

          8  exemptions from taxes on any increase and assessed

          9  valuation resulting from those alterations certified

         10  by HPD, and an abatement of property taxes equal to

         11  between 50 percent and 150 percent of the reasonable

         12  construction cost as determined by the agency.

         13                 In any given year, between 70 and

         14  100,000 units of housing are renovated with the

         15  assistance of this program.

         16                 The J-51 law provides other benefits

         17  to renters in New York City as well.

         18                 For example, in order to receive J-51

         19  benefits, property owners must prove that their

         20  housing is free of serious building and housing

         21  maintenance code violations.

         22                 Property owners must also establish

         23  that both their property and water and sewer taxes

         24  are paid in full, are subject to a payment plan with

         25  Department of Finance, in order to be eligible for
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          2  benefits.

          3                 This ensures that any housing

          4  receiving J-51 benefits is safe and is not subject

          5  to any potential foreclosure by the City.

          6                 In addition, property owners must

          7  subject their units to rent stabilization to receive

          8  J-51 benefits. Therefore, J-51 provides an important

          9  benefit for tenants in apartment buildings

         10  throughout New York City, and we urge the Council to

         11  enact this.

         12                 I'll take any questions now. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 I'd also like to note I've been

         15  joined by Lisa Yeh, who is HPD's Director of our Tax

         16  Incentives Unit.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         18  Joe.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Thank

         20  you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Do you have

         22  any sense of how many developers would be interested

         23  in taking advantage of this?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Not

         25  exactly. It's a relatively small program. This was
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          2  an attempt where we tried to devise a creative

          3  solution to the lack of housing production that

          4  confronts the City.

          5                 We realize that there are owners and

          6  there are developments on lots where there would be

          7  an interest in creating residential housing, and but

          8  for this initiative, they would not receive an

          9  exemption for the increase in the cubic content.

         10                 There are a handful of projects, this

         11  is not the kind of initiative that's going to change

         12  the face of the City. It's just one of the many

         13  items, new programs that we look at which we think

         14  will assist the Mayor's plan to develop production.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Who would

         16  decide whether or not a building can support the

         17  increase in cubic content, if an owner decides to

         18  build on top of an existing building?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: By

         20  support, do you mean structurally or financially?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I'm thinking

         22  structurally, but probably an answer to both.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: It

         24  would be Department of Buildings. They would be

         25  determination to ensure that this is appropriate,
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          2  that the structure is fine. There would be no

          3  changes in that regard. It would be the way the

          4  Department of Buildings currently works with all

          5  construction in the City of New York, and has always

          6  worked with our Tax Incentives Unit and other units

          7  within the agency.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: So, they

          9  would have to go in and do inspections with an

         10  existing building to determine if --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Oh,

         12  exactly. And they would have to certify plans and

         13  design, both with us and the Department of

         14  Buildings.

         15                 So, the way the program currently

         16  works now, and would certainly continue that way.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Do you have

         18  any idea how much this would cost the City at this

         19  point?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: No, we

         21  don't. We don't have a specific sense of how much

         22  this would involve. But our perspective, as you

         23  know, is that it's very important to produce and

         24  rehabilitate buildings. This is really an essential

         25  program. I know that's said about a lot, but really
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          2  J-51, when you consider that I think over 40 percent

          3  of the buildings in our City were constructed prior

          4  to World War II, the incentive to continue to

          5  upgrade it is very important.

          6                 And in this instance, not only would

          7  there be new units constructed, but I think it's

          8  safe to assume that because there would be work

          9  being done on the entire building, existing

         10  residents would also benefit from new boiler systems

         11  and elevators and plumbing, electrical wiring,

         12  things of that nature.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         14                 Does anybody have questions?

         15                 Gale.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you,

         17  Joe.

         18                 My first question is, who monitors

         19  all of this?

         20                 Now, of course, you know that during

         21  these, monitoring was very lax, and under your

         22  leadership and others it's more intensive. But if,

         23  in fact, you're saying that a 50 percent increase is

         24  the way in which you can get this exemption, but

         25  what happens if there are violations that would in
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          2  fact preclude continued exemption; how is all that

          3  monitored?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

          5  Building Department sign-off is required for this to

          6  happen. The violations would be D and C violations,

          7  and both we and the Department of Buildings would

          8  monitor this. This can be very studious.

          9                 We realize that this is an important

         10  benefit, and the developer would have to comply and

         11  both the Tax Incentives Program and our Design and

         12  Engineering Unit, as well as DOB, would watch very

         13  closely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, DOB and

         15  HPD's databases are such that you can monitor this

         16  kind of situation?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Yes.

         18  Well, this is, like I had mentioned previously, this

         19  is a relatively small program at this point. It may

         20  expand, we're not sure. It's just an opportunity to

         21  increase housing in the City. And certainly the

         22  Department of Buildings, plus tax incentives, plus

         23  design and architecture and engineering should have

         24  no problem with that whatsoever.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, database
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          2  issues.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Second issue

          5  is, I'm missing something here, but if, in fact, you

          6  are within the area, which of course does not

          7  include the west side, and that's fine, but if

          8  you're in the catchment area, that's applicable, how

          9  does affordable units become a reality under this

         10  J-51? What are we getting? How do we end up with a

         11  more affordable unit and managing, you know, to be

         12  part of your overall plan for housing development in

         13  the City?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: In

         15  order to be eligible in that catchment area which

         16  covers a large area of Manhattan, the units would

         17  have to be rehabbed pursuant to governmental

         18  assistance. So, it would be one of our programs

         19  under the Private Housing Finance Law.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: 80/20 or

         21  whatever it is, okay.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Are there

         24  structures? You mentioned the one in Harlem, but let

         25  me give you an example, when you say a current
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          2  structure, could that be a commercial current

          3  structure, like the Red Cross building at 150

          4  Amsterdam Avenue, which was just sold, or is it a

          5  residential structure that we're building on top of

          6  or 50 percent increase?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: It

          8  would have to be pursuant to the program we have

          9  now. So, it would be the work that's done under

         10  J-51. I think it would include conversions.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It would

         12  include conversions, current commercial to

         13  residential, right? That is happening increasingly.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Yes.

         15  J-51 currently covers conversions. If there were a

         16  conversion and increase in cubic content to the

         17  structure, along the lines that the statute

         18  dictates, it would be eligible for such a benefit.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         20                 All right, I guess those are my

         21  questions. Thank you.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         25  Member Avella.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Hi. Good

          3  afternoon.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Good

          5  afternoon.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: A couple of

          7  questions. Am I assuming correctly that this will

          8  only apply to multiple dwellings?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Yes,

         10  that's correct. J-51 is exclusive to multiple

         11  dwellings.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: In your

         13  testimony you mentioned, alluded to the issue of

         14  community facilities; can an owner expand the

         15  building, get the benefit, and put in the

         16  communities facility?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: The

         18  benefit would not be connected to a community

         19  facility. There would be a prorated deduction for

         20  anything that was not residential. This has to be

         21  tied exclusively to the residential construction.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: And what sort

         23  of protections are in this?

         24                 And we've talked about this before,

         25  you know where I'm going, that after the tax benefit
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          2  is granted, the developer or the owner of the

          3  building does something not appropriate to zoning or

          4  the Building Code, illegally converts or does

          5  something else, what protections are in here that we

          6  can be assured that if that does happen the tax

          7  abatement is revoked?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: The

          9  length of the exemption varies from either 14 to 34

         10  years, depending on the type of housing you develop.

         11  So, it would be very clear that there would not be

         12  any alteration for that period, otherwise the

         13  benefit would be extinguished. And we're very, very

         14  aggressive on this. This is not only a statutory

         15  requirement, but a regulatory one of ours as well,

         16  and we enforce this very fiercely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: So, if

         18  somebody brought a complaint, HPD or Department of

         19  Buildings would do the investigation?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: I

         21  would say we would both do it.

         22                 DOB would go out, but we would want

         23  to be aware of this, too, because this is an

         24  important benefit and our prospectus is it can't be

         25  abused, and we'd be consistent on that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

          7  Member Katz.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Hi.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Hi.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: You mentioned

         11  a site that in the City's portfolio the benefit

         12  would be used, are there additional sites designated

         13  or looking at?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: At

         15  that point that's the only specific one that's been

         16  identified.

         17                 When this is hopefully enacted into

         18  law and we're -- of course we would have to

         19  promulgate rules and regs for this to be used in a

         20  practical sense, then we would hopefully see some

         21  more developments.

         22                 MS. YEH: Joe, I can --

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Yes,

         24  sure.

         25                 MS. YEH: If I may, I could add, I
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          2  could add a point to this. During the times that we

          3  were discussing this legislation, there were at

          4  least a couple more projects which HEC or HPD were

          5  interested in pursuing, but those, I understand in

          6  my recent conversations with the Project Managers

          7  for these projects have fallen by the wayside. Now,

          8  whether that was due to uncertainty about these

          9  financial underpinnings of the project, I'm not

         10  sure, or for different reasons, but there were at

         11  least a couple that are not going to go forward.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Right.

         13  And obviously, to the legislative process is timely.

         14  When we first indicated that we were creating a

         15  program of this nature, I think there might have

         16  been some hope that would have taken effect soon,

         17  but obviously it had to be supported by the

         18  Administration internally and then passed in both

         19  the Assembly and the Senate, signed into law, and

         20  now we're here before you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Joe, I just

         22  want to follow up on Tony Avella's question. That is

         23  a concern. When one makes the complaint, a 3-1-1,

         24  that it seems like there are violations in the

         25  building, I don't understand -- I know this is a new
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          2  program so you haven't had to respond, but on the

          3  other hand, this is a fact, you know, I've had some

          4  issues along these lines regarding infractions and

          5  harassment complaints that are pending. I happen to

          6  know it, we called the right agencies, but it was

          7  clear, because of the database issue between

          8  homeless services, as you know, and HPD. So, what is

          9  the way in which a complaint would be sent to either

         10  HPD or Buildings? And maybe that's something that

         11  you're going to work out.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: We can

         13  work it out. But certainly if there is a problem of

         14  this nature, it can be elevated. Certainly I'm

         15  available, as is Lisa Yeh. We need to prove that

         16  this program can work, and we'd work with you. If

         17  you see a problem at all, we really need to know

         18  about it on as high a level as possible.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         20                 And in the exempt area, which is I

         21  guess Chamber up to 110th --

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         23  Roughly, yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, in that

         25  particular area, what you're saying is that only
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          2  with a subsidy would anything be possible? Or that's

          3  correct --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: That's

          5  correct, yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Whereas, in

          7  other places in this City, Queens, Brooklyn, north

          8  of 110th Street, it would be an exemption no matter

          9  what?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Joe, do you

         15  have any sense of potential sites that are not in

         16  the City's portfolio where this benefit could be

         17  used?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: You're

         19  talking about private sites? Other private sites,

         20  aside from Bethany?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes, right.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Are

         23  you aware of any others?

         24                 MS. YEH: Yes.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Go
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          2  ahead.

          3                 MS. YEH: I'm aware of one other site

          4  which we --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Just state

          6  you name.

          7                 MS. YEH: Lisa Yeh (phonetic),

          8  Director of Tax Incentives.

          9                 This was the Eagle Electric Building

         10  in Queens. That building has gone through several

         11  different configurations, or the plans for the

         12  building, and my understanding is that at this point

         13  in time they expect that it's going to be more than

         14  50 percent new. So, it would not qualify under this

         15  particular program.

         16                 But it's the kind of -- it's an

         17  example of situations where in the cost of planning

         18  and proposing buildings, we don't know whether or

         19  not the ultimate result is going to be more than 50

         20  percent new or old, and that's why this is an

         21  important part of what we're trying to do with these

         22  combination projects.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Would an

         24  owner or a developer in some cases be better off

         25  demolishing the building and building from the
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          2  ground up? Or under this you can't do that?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Well,

          4  this is one program to try to ensure that's

          5  something, that that would not happen. That's why

          6  we're looking at this idea of giving an exemption

          7  for the new construction aspect on an existing

          8  structure.

          9                 We learned a lot from other programs.

         10  We've had to change a lot and this is one way in

         11  which we're adapting to a new development world out

         12  there.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And do you

         14  have, or can you describe different ways in which a

         15  developer could increase cubic content of his or her

         16  building --

         17                 MS. YEH: We've seen very different

         18  ideas, and what the project managers have impressed

         19  upon us is that being able to increase the cubic

         20  content and having it obtain an exemption to make

         21  the financing of the project more viable just create

         22  opportunities for better layout and design for

         23  modernization of the entire building plan.

         24                 For example, the Bethany Place

         25  project will have an elevator servicing all four,
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          2  what used to be four buildings, and will now be one.

          3  That would not have been possible, had we been

          4  working since there were four separate rehabilitated

          5  buildings and a newly constructed infil building.

          6                 There are, you know, economies that

          7  are going to be gained from using one heating plant

          8  instead of several, and better use of common

          9  hallways so that you don't have to -- you can be

         10  more creative or better design the common areas.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         12                 Do we have any other questions?

         13                 You sure, Gale? Okay.

         14                 Thank you both very much.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Thank

         16  you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Jay Seiden

         18  and Dan Halperin.

         19                 Welcome, gentlemen. Just introduce

         20  yourselves, and decide who speaks.

         21                 MR. SEIDEN: Good morning, Chairwoman.

         22  Actually it's afternoon. When I wrote this I thought

         23  I'd be here in the morning.

         24                 My name is Jay Seiden. I'm a private

         25  attorney in New York City and I'm also Chairman of
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          2  the Legislative Committee of the New York State

          3  Association for Affordable Housing.

          4                 MR. HALPERIN: And I'm Don Halperin. I

          5  represent the New York State Association of

          6  Affordable Housing.

          7                 MR. SEIDEN: The bulk of our 200

          8  members work throughout the City's five boroughs and

          9  are collectively responsible for most of the housing

         10  built with City, state, federal subsidies in New

         11  York City and in recent years.

         12                 We strongly support City Council

         13  Intro. 318. Pursuant to New York City's

         14  Administration Code, Section 11-243(b),

         15  non-residential buildings converted to Class A

         16  multiple dwellings, or rehabilitated existing Class

         17  A multiple dwellings, are eligible for real estate

         18  tax exemption on the increased and assessed

         19  valuation attributable to such improvements.

         20                 However, under the current statute,

         21  new cubic content added to an existing building,

         22  during the course of a conversion or rehabilitation

         23  does not enjoy the exemption on the increase in

         24  assessed valuation attributable to the new cube. The

         25  large assessment increase based on the cost of the

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  physical work, when not exempted, serves as a

          3  deterrent to the alteration or conversion process.

          4                 The proposed legislation would

          5  entitle properties, where there is an increase in a

          6  building's cubic content during the course of a

          7  rehabilitation or conversion, to the tax exemption

          8  on the full value of the assessment attributed to

          9  the improvements, including new cube, so long as at

         10  least 50 percent of the completed building consists

         11  of the floor area of the pre-existing building.

         12  Actually, of the completed building.

         13                 In the City's outer boroughs and

         14  limited parts of Manhattan, the additional exemption

         15  would be granted so long as the building otherwise

         16  qualifies for the benefit under the current statute.

         17                 However, a further requirement would

         18  be imposed on buildings in Manhattan from Chambers

         19  Street to 110th Street.

         20                 In those areas, an increase in

         21  assessment attributable to new cubic content would

         22  be exempted if the improvements are made with the

         23  assistance of federal, state or local aid in the

         24  form of a grant, loan or other subsidy.

         25                 The limitation would encourage the
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          2  development of additional low- to middle-income

          3  residences in Manhattan, while encouraging both

          4  market rate and low- to middle-income housing

          5  throughout the remainder of the City.

          6                 The change would allow the

          7  preservation of existing structures which should

          8  reduce the total development cost, thereby further

          9  stimulating the increased production of housing.

         10                 The proposed legislation applies to

         11  exemption benefits only. New cubic content would not

         12  be considered in calculating the Certified

         13  Reasonable Cost of a project to determine the tax

         14  abatement.

         15                 The legislation, if passed, would

         16  implement a recently adopted State statute which was

         17  passed in conjunction with a similar bill which

         18  deals with a converse situation where more than 50

         19  percent of the floor area consists of new

         20  construction.

         21                 The amendment to the 421-a law does

         22  not require a City local law. Taken together, they

         23  are designed to deal with the anomalous situation

         24  where construction otherwise eligible for tax

         25  benefits would be deprived of those benefits simply
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          2  because the work was done, that was done involved a

          3  building that was partially rehabilitated and

          4  partially newly constructed.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          7                 Council Member Brewer. I'm so glad we

          8  have you on this Committee.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I have a very

         10  quick question.

         11                 As your colleague there knows, I

         12  represent the West Side of Manhattan, and obviously,

         13  I understand that portion from Chambers to 110th

         14  Street would need a second subsidy, so-to-speak, in

         15  order to be affordable. I know you mentioned that

         16  the market rate or middle-income housing might build

         17  more of it as a result of this exemption. I'm just

         18  wondering if you think that's true.

         19                 In other words, there are areas in

         20  our City, north even of 110th Street, that are, some

         21  would say gentrifying (sic), others would say

         22  developing rapidly, and I'm wondering in those

         23  areas, if you think 110th Street cut off should be

         24  extended, or do you think it's an appropriate

         25  cut-off?
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          2                 And obviously our goal, my goal,

          3  speaking for myself, is affordable housing. That's

          4  what I want, and with all due respect to anybody

          5  building high-income housing, it's not my -- I'm not

          6  here to do that. So, I'm just wondering, if you're

          7  sitting in my shoes and wanting affordable housing,

          8  as I know your organization does, are we getting

          9  there with this particular legislation?

         10                 MR. SEIDEN: Well, two things I think

         11  should be noted. Number one, as this bill relates to

         12  below 110th Street, it tends to be kind of

         13  irrelevant. And the reason it was irrelevant is

         14  because even if it was created with the use of

         15  subsidies, it's still subject to the post

         16  construction $38,000 clip, which would eliminate the

         17  ability to get the exemption.

         18                 So, as a private attorney in New

         19  York, the first call I get regarding a project under

         20  110th Street about J-51, I basically say don't

         21  bother, because the real value is in the exemption,

         22  and it's not going to make it.

         23                 With regard to the northern parts of

         24  Manhattan, and the boroughs, which is where most of

         25  our membership developed, there is no question that
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          2  the ability to develop housing at a reduced rate

          3  will be impacted by this program. And the reason for

          4  that is newly constructed housing throughout New

          5  York tends to be assessed by the City at a much

          6  higher rate than renovated housing, and I think if

          7  you would run the numbers you would probably see

          8  that the new construction component if it's not

          9  exempted, would probably add somewhere around $3 a

         10  foot in rent to each apartment. So, I think it's

         11  vital that we have the ability to preserve existing

         12  structures, add to them and deliver housing that's

         13  at a much more affordable rate.

         14                 The add-ons with the subsidies, well,

         15  the programs themselves require certain constraints.

         16  So, I think it's a necessary change to J-51, and I

         17  think it fits into the overall context of what we're

         18  trying to deliver in housing throughout the boroughs

         19  in Northern Manhattan.

         20                 MR. HALPERIN: And just, I'm sure you

         21  know this, but just to on the record remind

         22  everybody that if you don't get the benefits --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Identify

         24  yourself for the record.

         25                 MR. HALPERIN: Excuse me?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Just identify

          3  yourself.

          4                 MR. HALPERIN: Don Halperin.

          5                 When you get the benefits, the J-51

          6  benefits, you get rent regulation along with it,

          7  otherwise you don't.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Only for the

          9  term of the --

         10                 MR. HALPERIN: For the term.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: -- Exemption

         12  or the abatement, yes.

         13                 MR. HALPERIN: Correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes.

         15                 We want to know if the $3 increase is

         16  over a year a foot, or is it a longer period of

         17  time?

         18                 MR. SEIDEN: Actually, physical

         19  assessments are entered on the books immediately,

         20  unlike like land increases or what we call "building

         21  equalization increases," physical assessment

         22  increases are immediately taxable to the full extent

         23  they're imposed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, would the

         25  rent increase $3 --
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          2                 MR. SEIDEN: One would have to deal

          3  with that $3 a foot number right away.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. All

          5  right. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We have to

          7  ask these questions so David can do his fiscal

          8  impact --

          9                 MR. SEIDEN: Well, it helps me.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Right.

         11                 MR. SEIDEN: I need that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         13                 MR. SEIDEN: That's it?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 MR. SEIDEN: Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: That

         18  concludes our hearing.

         19                 Thank you also, Carol, for being

         20  here. We see you there.

         21                 Intro. 42, 2004; and Intro. 318, 2004

         22  are laid over. Thank you. This meeting is adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 2:23 p.m.)

         24
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